WATERLOO REGION PSYCHOLOGY CONSORTIUM¹

Predoctoral Residency in Clinical Psychology

Policies and Procedures 2023 - 2024

 $^{^{\}rm 1}$ Updated September 2023 and applicable to the 2023-24 training year.

Table of Contents

1.	Training Committee5						
	1.1.	Purpose	5				
	1.2.	Duties and Responsibilities	5				
	1.3.	Membership					
	1.4.	2021-2022 Members					
	1.5.	Meetings					
	1.6.	Reporting					
	1.7.	· · ·					
	1./.	Review					
2.	Responsibilities of Members						
	2.1.	Responsibilities of the Training Director					
	2.2.	Responsibilities of Training Committee Members	7				
	2.3.	Responsibilities of Site Coordinators	7				
3.	Philo	Philosophy					
٥.	3.1.	Psychological Services Offered					
	3.1.	Goals and Objectives					
	3.3	Ethical Practice	10				
4.	Resident Application Process						
	4.1.	Recruitment of Resident Applicants	10				
	4.2.	Eligibility/Candidate Qualifications	11				
	4.3.	Application Process					
	4.4.	Interview Selection Procedures					
	4.5.	Interview Process					
	4.5.1						
	4.6.	Ranking and Notification					
_							
5.		ks and Rotations					
	5.1.	Child/Adolescent Mental Health Track					
	5.2.	Adult Mental Health Track					
	5.3.	Sample Rotation Chart					
	5.4.	Rotation Selection Process	15				
	5.5.	Carryover Cases	15				
	5.6.	Outside Rotations ("Extra") Educational Opportunities					
6.	۸dm	inistrative Components of the Consortium	16				
J.	6.1.	Salary and Benefits					
		Residents' Responsibility to Organizations Hosting Rotations					
	6.2.						
	6.3.	Procedure					
	6.4.	Employment Requirements					
	6.5.	Professional Liability Insurance					
	6.6.	Cross-Site Travel					
	6.7.	Interruption of Residency Due to Pandemic or State of Emergency	18				
7.	Resident Requirements						
	7.1.	Time Requirements					
	7.1. 7.2.	Mandatory Attendance					
	7.2. 7.3.	Resident Meetings					
	7.4.	Required Presentations					
	7.5.	Alternative Arrangements	19				

8.	Supervision				
	8.1.	Ethical and Quality Standards for Supervision	20		
	8.2.	Supervision Frequency	21		
	8.3.	Definitions of Supervision	21		
	8.4.	Supervision Standards	21		
	8.5.	Rotation Training Plan and Evaluation			
	8.6 Minimum Standards for Successful Completion of the Residency				
	8.7.	Guidelines for Resident Training by Non-Psychologist Staff	23		
	8.8.	Resident Supervision of Practicum Students in Clinical Psychology			
		8.8.1. Supervision by the Psychologist and Resident	24		
		8.8.2 Responsibility of the Psychologist			
		8.8.3. Evaluations			
		8.8.4. Adherence to Supervision Guidelines			
		8.8.5. Process	24		
9.	Evaluation				
	9.1.	Letters to Resident's University Programme	24		
	9.2.	Resident Evaluation of Faculty, Rotation, and Residency	25		
10.	Facul	ty-Resident Relationships	26		
	10.1.	Junior Colleague Model			
11.	Multi-	Organizational Confidentiality	26		
12.	Reme	diation Policy for Residents/Residency Conflict Resolution Policy	26		
	12.1.	General Statement			
	12.2.	Multiple Roles	27		
	12.3.	Resident Grievance Procedure – Supervisor Issues			
		12.3.1. Conflicts with a Supervisor	27		
		12.3.2. Supervisor Conflicts when the Supervisor is the Training Director			
	12.4.	Resident Grievance Procedure – Administrative Issues			
		12.4.1. Site Coordinator			
		12.4.2. Training Director	29		
	12.5.	Supervisor Concerns - Probation Procedure			
		12.5.1. Probation or Dismissal			
		12.5.2. Site Supervisor			
		12.5.3. Training Director			
		12.5.4. Training Director/Ad Hoc Review Committee			
		12.5.5. The Training Committee			
	12.6.	Appeals Procedure			
	12.7.	Complaints Regarding Residents' Behaviour by Patients, Other Staff, or Police			
	12.8.	Highly Unethical Behaviour and Behaviour of a Serious Nature			
	12.9.	Termination of Resident Employment	32		
13.	A \	/iolence, Anti-Harassment and Anti-Discrimination Policies	27		

List of Appendices

- A. Rotation Training Plan
- **B.** Resident Evaluation Form
- C. Residents' Evaluation of Self, Supervisors, and Rotation
- **D.** Residents' Evaluation of the WRPC
- **E.** Residents' Evaluation of the Seminar Series
- **F.** Supervision Agreement
- **G.** Lutherwood Policy C 12.0 Human Rights, Anti-Harassment, and Anti-Discrimination
- **H.** Lutherwood Policy E 13.0 Workplace Violence

- Lutherwood Policy 13.1 Workplace HarassmentPandemic Addendum to Learning Contract

Waterloo Region Psychology Consortium

Introduction

The Consortium for 2023-24 consists of five organizations that provide mental health and/or educational services in Waterloo and Wellington Regions. As the host organization of the Consortium, Lutherwood is the employer of prospective residents and of the Training Director and associated administrative staff. The other partners are the Waterloo Region District School Board (WRDSB); Campus Wellness, University of Waterloo; the Canadian Mental Health Association Waterloo Wellington; and Grand River Hospital. The number of rotations provided by each of the partner organizations is negotiated annually. Full descriptions of participating agencies may be found in the Waterloo Region Psychology Consortium Guide.

1. Training Committee

1.1 Purpose

To guide all processes and decisions involving the Waterloo Region Psychology Consortium residency.

1.2 Duties and Responsibilities

The Training Committee is responsible for the Consortium

- For ensuring that the structures and program content fit with CPA accreditation and APPIC requirements as well as the requirements of participant organizations
- For overseeing the operations of the WRPC to ensure that CPA, APPIC, and other quality requirements are being upheld
- For overseeing the annual planning process prior to recruitment
- For the recruitment, selection, placement and evaluation of residents
- For overseeing the annual contracting process between the host organization and participant organizations
- For annual revisions to the WRPC Guide and Policy and Procedures Manual.

1.3 Membership

The Training Committee consists of the following members:

- The Training Director, who acts as the chair of and a resource to the Training Committee
- A psychologist who acts as voting member and Site Coordinator from each of the participant organizations
- A non-voting member from the host organization to ensure administrative requirements are appropriately monitored
- Each of the current program residents on a rotating basis (in the case of three residents, each resident spends 4 months as representative)

In addition, other participants from the consortium may elect to attend Training Committee meetings for the purposes of gathering and sharing information and offering input into the consortium's operations. These may include:

- Clinical supervisors from the consortium rotation sites (participant organizations)
- Administrators from the participant organizations who are responsible for oversight or management of training and/or psychology at their organizations, and as such are involved in the administration of their organization's involvement in the residency

• Residents who are not currently the resident representatives (upon approval of time availability and fit with training plan from their supervisors)

1.4 2023-2024 Members² (subject to change)

Voting Members:

- Lutherwood: Dr. Karen MacLeod (Training Director)
- Waterloo Region District School Board: Dr. Lisa Mulvihill
- Campus Wellness: Dr. Carolyn Abramowitz
- CMHA WW: Dr. Troy Rieck
- Grand River Hospital: Dr. Cathleen McDonald / Dr. Aziz Nashef (may shift part way through year)

Non-Voting Participants:

- Resident Representatives:
 - September December 2022: Caroline Campbell
 - o January April 2023: Rachel Kerzner
 - May August 2023: Amy Beaudry
- Lutherwood: Jane Belan (Program Assistant)
 Tracy Mewhort-Buist (Clinical Supervisor)
 - Campus Wellness: Dr. Kassandra Scioli (Clinical Supervisor)
- Other relevant participants, as described above, may attend on an ongoing or occasional basis as need or interest arises

1.5 Meetings

- Training Committee meets on a regularly scheduled basis. The current frequency is once
 monthly, for 1 hour. An additional half hour is utilized for a meeting of clinical supervisors along
 with the training director (and program assistant who records minutes); this is an in camera
 portion of the meeting where other committee members do not attend.
- Additional meetings may also be called at the discretion of the Training Director in consultation with members or staff.
- The committee is chaired by the Training Director, or a rotating chair is assigned from the site coordinators, at the committee's discretion

1.6 Reporting

Official meeting minutes are retained at the administrative offices of the host agency. Minutes are distributed to training committee members, and site coordinators distribute as needed among members and participants at their sites.

1.7 Review

The Training Committee will review its mandate annually.

² It is recognized that Dr. MacLeod, as Training Director, Site Coordinator, and Site Supervisor, fulfills multiple roles within the WRPC hence creating potential conflicts of interest. Similarly, each Site Coordinator also acts as a clinical Site Supervisor, also creating potential conflicts of interest. Please refer to pages 23 - 28 of this Manual for a description of how we endeavor to manage such conflicts of interest, should they arise.

2. Responsibilities of Members

2.1 Responsibilities of the Training Director

- Overall coordination of the Consortium, including:
 - Ensuring regular training committee meetings
 - o Coordinating training committee activities such as brochure update and distribution
 - Resident welcome and farewell social events
 - Review of resident and supervisor goal setting and evaluations
 - o Communication with each resident's academic training program
 - Communication with Canadian Psychological Associations Accreditation Panel
 - o Delegation of the coordination of the resident seminar series
 - Attendance at the annual meeting of the Canadian Council of Professional Psychology Programs
 - Attendance at twice-yearly Joint Meetings of Internship Directors and Training Directors,
 College of Psychologists of Ontario
 - Serving as a resource for residents, site coordinators, and site supervisors on issues relating to specific residents' training and evaluation
 - Meeting with residents as necessary, and individually a minimum of three times per year.
- Coordinating recruitment of residents, including
 - Advertisement of the program
 - Applicant selection, interviews, and rankings
 - o Coordination of accepted residents and employment requirements
 - Coordination of rotations
 - Acting as a main point of contact for residents (e.g., providing feedback and evaluation to residents and their DCTs, ensuring smooth transitions between rotations, addressing residents' concerns, and providing residency program, host agency, and other information as needed) and site coordinators (e.g., organizing around timelines and expectations, summarizing evaluation feedback, facilitating and organizing applicant selection and interviews across sites, ensuring needs of organizations are likely to be met through the residency program in keeping with the consortium contract).
- Involvement in seeking resolution to resident and/or supervisor grievance difficulties that require higher-order processes, including:
 - Creating alternative arrangements should any of the residents be unable to complete residency due to health or family planning concerns
 - Creating a plan to monitor and provide support should any of the residents be placed on probation.

2.2 Responsibilities of Training Committee Members

- Regularly attend Training Committee meetings (or send an alternate representative)
- Report Training Committee activities to their respective constituencies
- Represent their constituency's training issues at the Training Committee meetings
- Be aware of specific training issues ongoing in the Profession
- Facilitate implementation of the Training Committee policies
- Provide oversight for the application, interview, and applicant selection process

2.3 Responsibilities of Site Coordinators

Assist with the brochure description of their site, its staff, and the rotations at their site

- Meet with residents during the initial Consortium orientation
- Receive all documentation related to residents at their site
- Liaise with the management of their organization regarding site specific issues (e.g., office space, access to resources)
- Address concerns or complaints specific to the site
- Ensure regularly scheduled opportunities to provide agency staff with feedback on Consortium activities, changes, and updates, and for staff to ask questions, provide site updates or request future agenda items (can be within site psychology meetings)
- Keep the Consortium apprised of site staffing and rotation changes, site concerns and/or needs
- Keep on-site residency materials current (e.g., revised policies/procedures, up-to-date brochure)
- Ensure a site welcome and orientation for new residents (e.g., meeting staff, verbal introduction to site, orientation to physical spaces at sites, luncheon with other site supervisors)
- Assist with resident consultation and case review process in the event of patient suicide or another adverse event
- Assist in mediation of conflicts between supervisor and resident (when irresolvable by Training Director) or Training Committee and resident
- Participate in Ad Hoc Review Committee when needed for probation procedures
- Address complaints regarding residents' behaviour by clients, staff, others.
- Serve as member of the Training Committee, including development and maintenance of program documentation
- Participate in application and selection process of candidates for residency, including review of applications, participation in candidate interviews, and participation in program meetings to select candidates to be invited to interviews and to decide on candidate rankings for the APPIC Match; coordinate involvement of other members from their site in these activities, as needed and appropriate
- Recruit and coordinate participation from their site of speakers for the residency seminar series

3. Philosophy

The purpose of the Consortium's training programme is to develop psychologists who will be capable of sound, independent professional functioning in the provision of psychological assessment, intervention, and consultation. We believe that clinical competence is built on a solid base of scientific evidence and on experience with a variety of assessment and treatment approaches. Our programme is committed to building on the base of knowledge and experience that residents have already begun to establish in graduate school and in previous practica. The Consortium settings offer opportunities for residents to develop and hone their skills in working with clients with complex and serious challenges within varying therapeutic models. Clinical experiences are available across a wide age range, from young children to adults, dependent on program track, training goals, and relevant qualifications. We encourage the development of clinical understanding from a variety of theoretical orientations. We make every effort, within the structure of the Consortium, to individualize residents' training experiences to suit their interests and needs. We are committed to providing the degree of supervision necessary to permit residents to manage complex cases effectively, with supervision designed to facilitate gradually increasing independence.

Psychology staff across the Consortium are committed to:

- The development, provision, and evaluation of high-quality psychological services that promote the physical, emotional, cognitive, and social well-being of persons seeking assistance
- The training of skilled, ethical, healthy psychology professionals
- The advancement of psychological perspectives in health and mental health care
- The advancement of inclusion, diversity, equity, and anti-racism in psychology training and in the psychology field more broadly.

3.1 Psychological Services Offered

Psychological services are regulated by the College of Psychologists of Ontario and are offered in accordance with the relevant legislative acts and professional standards, guidelines, and codes of ethics. Although specific functions for psychology staff vary by agency and service area, services include:

- Psychological assessment and diagnosis
- Psychological treatment
- Psychological consultation
- Provision of training in psychology (e.g., supervision of practicum students)
- Contribution of psychological (a) perspectives to evaluation of clinical programmes and policy initiatives within host agencies and (b) expertise through education in health-care and community settings
- Facilitation, implementation, and dissemination of research and/or program evaluation.

3.2 Goals and Objectives

The specific **goals** that emanate from our philosophy of training are as follows:

- Residents will further their mastery of clinical skills and demonstrate sound clinical judgment in the provision of psychological assessment, intervention, and consultation.
- Residents will ground all aspects of their practice in knowledge of the most current research, and will have an understanding of the role and application of program evaluation in service provision settings.
- Residents' exercise of clinical skills and judgment will be informed by sensitivity to individual and cultural differences.
- Residents will solidify their sense of themselves as future psychologists, incorporating the values, standards, and ethical principles that this professional identity entails, as well as developing a healthy work-life balance and ability to incorporate self-care into their professional practice.

The following **objectives** correspond to each of these goals. The extent to which these objectives are met will vary according to the level of training/skill/preparation of each resident.

1. Assessment/Diagnosis/Consultation

Residents are expected to achieve competence in the skills and judgments required for assessment, diagnosis, and consultation. Such skills include interviewing, selecting psychological tests, administering and scoring psychological tests, interpreting test results, integrating findings from various sources, conceptualizing cases, diagnosing psychological disorders, communicating diagnoses, formulating intervention recommendations, writing assessment/consultation reports, and giving feedback to clients/families and other professionals.

2. Intervention

Residents are expected to achieve competence in the following skills and judgments required for psychological intervention: evaluating intervention needs, working with clients to set realistic intervention goals, selecting interventions with consideration of the existing evidence base, operating effectively within chosen theoretical orientation(s), responding flexibly to clients' needs, managing crises, recognizing the need for consultation, and managing termination.

3. **Provision of Supervision**

Residents may have the opportunity to provide clinical supervision to more junior psychology trainees (e.g., practica students) as part of one or more of their rotations, under the overarching supervision of a registered psychologist. Residents are expected to recognize that the provision of training and clinical supervision is an important part of the role of psychologists and entails the development of a unique skill set, including ensuring the quality of clinical service being provided by the supervisee, communicating feedback to the supervisee about strengths and areas for improvement, and modelling

and educating the supervisee about ethical practice and professionalism. Residents involved in providing supervised supervision are expected to be familiar with and conduct themselves in accordance with all professional codes and standards of conduct that regulate this activity.

4. Research and Evaluation

Residents are expected to evaluate practice-related research and to base decisions about their work (i.e., assessment, intervention, consultation) with clients on current findings.

They are expected to be able to evaluate the quality of evidence used to support clinical decisions. Residents are also expected to develop their understanding of how program evaluation activities inform service provision. More directly, residents are further expected to become involved in a research or applied evaluation project at one of their rotation sites during their residency year.

5. Sensitivity to and Respect for Diversity

Residents are expected to demonstrate sensitivity to and respect for intersecting elements of diversity among clients, support networks, and service providers by taking into account considerations such as ethnicity, race, culture, gender, sexual orientation, and gender identity (among others) in all of their clinical work. They are expected to incorporate considerations of diversity and respectfulness in their assessment methods, develop and value self-awareness of their own potential biases, seek consultation/supervision/education as needed regarding diversity issues that they encounter that are new to them, and adjust assessment and intervention approaches to meet the needs of clients related to the wide range of differences and diversity in our communities. They are expected to be actively engaged in ongoing learning about anti-racism, equity, and inclusion during their training year, with the support of the training program and their clinical supervisors.

6. **Professional Identity and Functioning**

Residents are expected to develop and demonstrate an identification with the psychologist's professional role and values by: understanding the psychologist's role on inter-professional clinical teams; participating in activities specific to psychologists; interacting respectfully with other professions; understanding the roles of other professions; showing awareness of ethical standards of psychological practice; showing awareness of mental-health and other relevant legislation; behaving ethically toward clients, colleagues, and other staff; managing workload responsibly; and interacting with community partners (e.g., schools, probation, physicians) to facilitate client care. As part of the development of professional identity, residents will demonstrate an ability to balance workload, self-advocate, practice good self-care, and will cultivate a healthy work-life balance that allows them to function productively and in a healthy manner as a professional as well as in their non-professional roles.

3.3 Ethical Practice

- At the outset of the residency program, residents are provided with a list of legislation, standards, and guidelines relevant to members of the College of Psychologists of Ontario.
- Electronic copies of provincial and federal legislation and College of Psychologists of Ontario materials are available on a shared network drive accessible to all residents through their Lutherwood email account.
- The documents provided include the College of Psychologists of Ontario Standards of Professional Conduct, the CPA Canadian Code of Ethics for Psychologists, 3rd Edition, the CPA Practice Guidelines for Providers of Psychological Services, and the CPA Guidelines for Non-discriminatory Practice.

4. Resident Application Process

4.1 Recruitment of Resident Applicants

- The Residency Guide is updated annually by August of each year for distribution to:
 - The websites for Lutherwood, the Canadian Council of Professional Psychology Programs (CCPPP), and the Association of Psychology Postdoctoral and Internship Centres (APPIC)
 - o Prospective applicants requesting brochures.
- Discipline members attending conferences are encouraged to attend resident recruitment activities at those meetings.
- The Training Director keeps CCPPP, APPIC, and CPA records up-to-date regarding programme description.
- The Training Director ensures that publications and websites describing the residency programmes remain up-to-date regarding our programme.
- The Consortium is a member of the Canadian Council of Professional Psychology Programs (CCPPP) and the Association of Psychology Postdoctoral and Internship Centres (APPIC) and participates in the APPIC National Matching Service.

4.2 Eligibility/Candidate Qualifications

- Documentation required to apply to the WRPC is listed under "Application Process".
- Candidates must be registered in an APA- or CPA-accredited clinical or school psychology program and must have completed a minimum of 600 practicum hours, including a minimum of 150 direct assessment hours. Experience with complex clinical cases is preferred. <u>In consultation with relevant other programs and partners in the training community, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the availability of clinical practicum has been recognized, and applicants who have been impacted are invited to identify this in their applications, to be taken into consideration on a case by case basis.</u>
- Candidates must have completed all requirements for the doctoral degree, except for the
 dissertation. It is strongly recommended that candidates plan to have their dissertation
 completed prior to the residency year. We expect residents to give priority to their clinical
 training while with the Consortium, and it is our experience that it is very challenging for them to
 try to complete the dissertation at the same time.
- In the past, it has been the policy of the Consortium to reserve one position (which may or may
 not be required) for a University of Waterloo clinical psychology graduate student. This policy
 will cease for the 2023-2024 training year, with the withdrawal of the CMHRT from the
 Consortium.
- Given Canadian immigration policy restrictions in agency hiring policies, we are able to accept applications only from individuals legally entitled to work in Canada.
- In reviewing applications, the selection committee seeks to ensure a good fit between the candidate's needs and interests and the training provided in the Consortium. In-person interviews are preferred, but phone interviews can be arranged.
- <u>Diversity/non-discrimination</u> The member sites of the Waterloo Region Psychology Consortium are committed to employment equity, and WRPC fosters workplace culture that respects, appreciates, and values diversity. Qualified candidates of all ethnicities, races, genders, sexual orientation and gender identities, cultural backgrounds, abilities, and beliefs are encouraged to apply. WRPC is committed to the work of anti-racism, anti-discrimination, and anti-oppression, and seeks to be part of diversifying the field of psychology.
 - The Waterloo Region Psychology Consortium is committed to an inclusive and accessible workplace and supports residents who require accommodations (for example, with respect to office space, parking, equipment, along with any other accommodation needs).
 - Applicants with specific questions or needs related to access and accommodations available at our settings are encouraged to contact the Training Director early in the process, in order that their concerns or needs may be fully addressed, including during the application process.

4.3 Application Process

- The residency program is a member of APPIC and participates in the APPIC National Matching Service. Candidates are required to submit a complete application submitted through APPIC, including:
 - Cover letter outlining plans and special interests, and identifying and ranking the rotations of interest.
 - Essays, including personal essay, theoretical orientation, experience with diversity, and research interests (each section approximately one page in length)
 - Curriculum Vitae
 - Summary of clinical hours and experiences
 - "Academic Program's Verification of Internship Eligibility and Readiness" completed by the graduate program's Director of Clinical Training
 - o One official copy of graduate transcripts
 - Three letters of reference, including both clinical and academic references. Referees may be contacted to provide further information.
- Application deadline: Typically, the first or second Monday in November, set annually.
 - o Applications for the Child/Adolescent Track use the following program code number: **186611**
 - o Applications for the Adult Track use the following program code number: **186612**
- The completed residency application must be submitted via the AAPI Applicant portal to:

Dr. Karen MacLeod, Training Director Waterloo Region Psychology Consortium 285 Benjamin Rd. Waterloo, ON N2J 3Z4 kmacleod@lutherwood.ca ph: 519-884-1666, ext. 2287

fax: 519-886-8479

4.4 Procedures for Selection of Candidates for Interviews

- A minimum of two representatives from each track select residents to invite for interviews in their track. The Consortium adheres to provincial universal notification date timelines with respect to interview invitations and scheduling.
- Standards for acceptance for interviews
 - The following criteria will be considered when selecting applicants for interviews: goodness of fit/suitability for position, clinical experience, letters of reference, coursework, stage of dissertation completion, research experience, essays, and additional experiences. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on training will be taken into account on a case-by-case basis where relevant and identified by an applicant and their DCT.
- Weighting of credentials
 - All aspects of an applicant's credentials are valued and given due consideration. In particular, careful attention is paid to the fit of the candidate's qualifications and training goals with the opportunities available in the residency program.
- Feedback to applicants about eligibility for interview:
 - Invitations for interviews will be sent in keeping with the universal notification and response
 dates recommended by CCPPP, typically with invitations sent on the first Friday in December
 and responses accepted on the following Monday. Interview scheduling will be conducted
 primarily through email correspondence, with telephone calls if necessary.
 - Applicants who are not invited for an interview will be sent an email thanking them for their application and informing them of the decision, also on the universal notification date suggested by CCPPP. It is generally not possible to offer individualized feedback regarding the decision-making process, although exceptions may be considered.

4.5 Interview Process

- Interviews are scheduled in January, during the two weeks designated by CCPPP for Central Ontario internship sites.
- In keeping with CCPPP recommendations, all interviews will be held virtually, by secure video-conference whenever possible. Telephone interviews can also be arranged if video-conferencing is not feasible for a candidate.
- Applicants are interviewed by two individuals (such as site coordinators, clinical supervisors) from two different sites from the track to which they are applying.
- A structured interview format is used, and interviewers complete an applicant evaluation form for each person interviewed.
- Interviewees will either meet or have the opportunity to correspond with at least one of our current residents. These discussions are confidential and are aimed at giving applicants greater knowledge of the residency programme.
- Before the interview, candidates are invited to contact the Training Director regarding any outstanding questions they may have about the residency.
- If requested, and where feasible, individual appointments may also be scheduled with selected Consortium staff, which may include representatives of the candidate's requested major and minor rotations. These additional appointments should be initiated by interested applicants and could be by telephone or virtually during the interview process if schedules permit.

4.5.1 Conflict of Interest Policy

- WRPC exists within a relatively small psychology community, and many students from the
 University of Waterloo and other nearby clinical programs have had previous experience with one
 or more members of the Training Committee (e.g., former supervisor, provided letter of
 reference for applicant, personal relationship). All members of the Training Committee are
 committed to objectivity and professionalism in reviewing applications of students known to
 them.
- To avoid conflict of interest in the selection of applicants, where possible it is recommended that an individual with a previous relationship decline to participate in either the file review or the interview process for a particular track.
- However, it is recognized that there are limited resources in each track and, as a result, it may be difficult for this recommendation to be employed. Possible mechanisms for a committee member who may have a potentially conflicting relationship with an applicant include:
 - o declining to review particular files or to interview particular candidates if they believe that they will be in a conflict of interest
 - o participating in file reviews, but not the interviews for particular candidates
 - participating in the interview process and in the ranking of applicants but excusing themselves from discussions and ranking of particular candidates and making that plan clear to the candidates to whom the conflict of interest might apply.

4.6 Ranking and Notification

- Following the completion of the interview process, the track interviewers meets to rank order the applicants and provides the rank ordering of applicants to the Training Director at least one week prior to the APPIC rank submission date.
- The track interviewers will not show bias with regard to:
 - o whether the selected applicant is from a Ph.D. or Psy. D. program
 - o whether the selected applicant was interviewed by videoconference or by telephone
 - the selected applicant's desired rotations.

- APPIC notification guidelines are followed for resident selection.
- Separate sets of resident rankings are made for each track and are submitted to the National Matching Service by the Training Director.
- This residency site agrees to abide by the APPIC policy that no person at this training facility will solicit, accept, or use any ranking-related information from any resident applicant.

5. Tracks and Rotations

- The Waterloo Region Psychology Consortium offers three full-time twelve-month pre-doctoral positions for the 2023-24 training year. At the time of writing, the program plans to wind down and close the residency program at the end of the 2023-24 training year. For the current 2023-24 training year, residents are participating in one of three tracks:
 - o Child/Adolescent Mental Health (1 position)
 - o Adult Mental Health (1 position)
 - Combined Child/Adult Mental Health (1 position) comprised of rotations from the Child/Adolescent and Adult Mental Health tracks.
- Within each track, there may be a number of potential rotation opportunities with which the resident may be matched according to availability and the residents' expressed interests.
- Each resident is assigned to two "major" rotations (3 days per week for 6 months) and one "minor" rotation (1.5 days per week for 12 months).
- All residents have one half day per week designated for non-clinical (e.g., didactic) activities for the duration of the residency year. This time is focused on the residency provided Seminar Series, as well as the required Resident Peer meeting. On some dates, time is provided for focused work on the residency evaluation project, in lieu of a didactic seminar.
- Applicants are clearly informed in program materials and through the selection process as needed
 that no guarantees can be made about the availability of specific rotations for those matched to
 the program.

5.1 Child/Adolescent Mental Health Track

- The Child/Adolescent Mental Health Track is designed to prepare residents for future post-doctoral supervised practice focused on children, adolescents and their families. Clients range in age most often from three to 18 years. There are opportunities for rotations across various sites, including schools, a community agency, and a university clinic. Training is available in a variety of types of services, including out-client, day treatment, or residential treatment programs. In addition to providing direct client service, many of the child rotations provide opportunities for residents to supervise more junior clinical psychology graduate students who are conducting assessments or psychotherapy in those settings. Program evaluation or research opportunities also exist in the child track.
- To be considered for the Child/Adolescent Track, resident applicants must have completed relevant course work in child assessment, child development, and child psychopathology, ethics and research practices. They must also have completed a minimum of 600 hours of clinical experience, at least half of which involve child/adolescent assessment AND therapy.
- Potential rotations in the Child/Adolescent Mental Health Track for 2023-24 include:
 - Lutherwood: Complex Psychological Assessments, Intervention and Consultation related to children and youth in a variety of mental health services
 - Waterloo Regional District School Board: Psychological Assessment, Clinical Consultation, Group and Individual Intervention
 - Grand River Hospital: Assessment, Intervention, and Consultation in both Child/Adolescent and/or Adult focused programs

5.2 Adult Mental Health Track

- The Adult Mental Health Track is designed to prepare residents for future post-doctoral supervised practice focused on adults. There are opportunities for major rotations at a university mental health centre, a residential treatment centre, and a private psychology practice (available rotations will change for 2022-23, as described in the Residency Guide). In addition to providing direct client service, the adult rotations may provide opportunities for residents to supervise more junior clinical psychology graduate students conducting assessments or psychotherapy in each setting. Program evaluation and research opportunities also exist in the adult track.
- To be considered for the Adult Mental Health Track, resident applicants must have completed relevant course work in psychopathology, assessment and intervention, ethics and research practices. They must also have completed a minimum of 600 hours clinical experience, at least half of which involves assessment AND therapy for adult clients. A minimum of 150 hours must be related to direct assessment experience.
- Rotations in the Adult Mental Health Track include:
 - Campus Wellness: Psychological Assessment, Individual and Group Intervention, and Consultation
 - Canadian Mental Health Association Waterloo Wellington (CMHA WW): Consultation, Psychological Assessment, Treatment
 - Grand River Hospital: Assessment, Intervention, and Consultation in both Child/Adolescent and/or Adult focused programs

5.3 Sample Rotation Chart

Resident	Major Rotation 1	Major Rotation 2	Minor Rotation	
	Sept - Feb	March - Aug	Sept - Aug	
Child Track:				
Resident A	Lutherwood	GRH Child focus	Lutherwood	
Adult Track:				
Resident B	CW	CW	CMHA WW	
Combined Track:				
Resident C	WRDSB	Lutherwood	GRH Adult focus	

5.4 Rotation Selection Process

- Candidates are instructed to indicate their preferred rotations in rank order of preference in their application materials (cover letter) and this is also explored if needed during the interview process.
- The Consortium Training Committee will meet in the spring to coordinate individualized schedules
 for incoming residents. While many practical factors (e.g., supervisor availability and the number
 of available rotations at each partner organization) are taken into consideration during this
 process, resident interest, training goals, and the need to ensure that all residents have a broadbased clinical experience are important influences in the formation of the final schedule.
- All efforts are made to honor resident preferences and training goals in rotation assignment.
 However, when it is not possible to provide first-choice rotations to all residents (e.g., if two residents rank a single available rotation as their first choice), factors such as the degree of

- qualification for the rotation, and the fit between resident goals and available opportunities at the rotation will be considered.
- The rotation selection also requires that all residents work in more than one participating
 organization of the consortium during the residency year in compliance with CPA accreditation
 criteria.

5.5 Carryover Cases

- To facilitate the establishment of new responsibilities in future rotations and to complete final
 tasks in a timely manner, as a rotation nears completion, supervisors are required to assist
 residents in the termination or transfer of clients with whom they have been working.
 At the start of service provision, all clients must be informed about the limits on the time that the
 resident will be available to them.
- In order to receive long-term therapy supervision, in some instances it may be possible for a
 resident to contract with a supervisor to provide therapy over a period of time longer than a
 single rotation. Such contracts should not total more than two clients over the residency year and
 a written plan for these arrangements must be approved well in advance by the resident's
 supervisors at both affected sites as well as the Training Director. As the residency year ends in
 August, carryover cases would be restricted to clients initially seen in the first six months of the
 year. This arrangement may not be possible, dependent upon the rotations and training
 activities involved.
- A smaller degree of carry over work from a rotation may sometimes occur due to unexpected service obstacles or delays (for example, if there has been an impediment in delivering assessment feedback to a client before the end of a rotation), or due to the nature or scheduling of a clinical activity (for example, if a group intervention has a limited amount of follow up activity extending beyond the end of the rotation). In such circumstances, if carry over is felt necessary to uphold ethical and appropriate client service, or deemed desirable for the purpose of training goals, approval from clinical supervisors at both sites, as well as the Training Director, must be secured with as much advance notice as possible before the start of the new rotation, and plans made to minimize disruption to training and service delivery at the new rotation.
- The Training Committee agenda will include discussion and planning for any carry over work at committee meetings in preparation of the transition to the second major rotation (at relevant timepoints beginning ideally in December of the first major rotation).

5.6 Outside Rotation ("Extra") Educational Opportunities

On occasion, a non-supervising psychologist may offer a resident an opportunity to participate in
an educational/training experience that is not a regular part of their assigned rotations, or a
resident may request the opportunity to participate in such an experience. Should a resident be
interested in participating in an extra-rotation activity, they should first obtain permission from
the supervisor from whose rotation the time is to be taken. At their discretion, the two
supervisors may also wish to discuss the merits of the training opportunity. Permission of the
Training Director is also required for participation in such activities.

6. Administrative Components of the Consortium

6.1 Salary and Benefits

The current salary for the Waterloo Region Psychology Consortium Residency is \$34,000/year. Residents are contract employees of Lutherwood and as such receive the benefits associated with this status. These include mandatory benefits (Employee Health Tax, Employment Insurance, and Canada Pension Plan), 12 statutory holidays per year, 11.25 hours of sick time per month (accumulated to a maximum of 40 days), 2 paid personal days, and 10 vacation days per year accumulated at a rate of 2.88 hours bi-weekly.

- While residents may accumulate small amounts of overtime hours which may be taken back as flex time (with advance supervisor approval only), the number of hours accumulated at any one time must not exceed 15.
- Residents are permitted one week (5 days) of paid educational leave as well as one week (5 days) paid time for research/ dissertation completion. Educational leave is intended for attendance at professional conferences and workshops.
- Approval for time off for vacation, education and research must be sought in advance from the clinical supervisor at the affected rotation, and from the Training Director, in order to ensure clinical and learning activities are not unduly disrupted.
- It is preferred that residents distribute their time off across rotations in order to ensure that learning opportunities at each rotation are maximized.
- An amount of \$200 for each resident is available for outside education (e.g., workshops). There
 may be additional opportunities for educational funding subject to the financial capability and
 needs of individual rotations.
- Travel between Consortium sites within a work day for meetings, and to other schools and community agencies when required, will be paid at Lutherwood's mileage rate (which varies according to rising and falling gas prices).
- Out-of-province residents may apply for Ontario Health Insurance. A three-month waiting period, during which the resident is responsible for his/her own health insurance, applies.

6.2 Residents' Responsibility to Organizations Hosting Rotations

- As employees of the host agency (Lutherwood), residents will adhere to employment policies of that agency, including all Health and Safety policies.
- As contractees to participant agencies (University of Waterloo, Waterloo Region District School Board, CMHA WW, Grand River Hospital), residents will adhere to operational policies of the organizations hosting each rotation.

6.3. Procedure

- Residents will familiarize themselves with the employment policies and health and safety policies of the host agency by reading relevant policies and attending orientation activities.
- Employment policies provide information about hours of work, notification of absences, and compensation.
- Residents will familiarize themselves with operating policies of participating agencies for which they are completing rotations by reading relevant documentation and receiving orientation from the rotation supervisor.
- Residents will be expected to adhere to rotation policies, including safety and security polices, professionalism, clinical recording guidelines, client booking procedures, collection of fees (where applicable).
- If a resident is uncertain about which policy applies to which situations, they will discuss this with the primary rotation supervisor and/or the Training Director.

6.4 Employment Requirements

- As contract employees of Lutherwood, residents must meet several requirements before the offer
 of employment is finalized. In advance of the commencement of the residency, accepted
 applicants must meet or have contact with a member of our Human Resources Department who
 will explain and coordinate these requirements, which include:
 - o A Vulnerable Sectors Criminal Records Check
 - A Health Check including confirmation of up-to-date Hepatitis B and TB immunizations
- Residents will meet with Lutherwood HR staff on the first day of the residency year to complete all required outstanding employment forms and paperwork.

6.5 Professional Liability Insurance

 Before starting the residency year, all residents must provide the Training Director evidence of having Professional Liability Insurance. Coverage must be in effect by the first day of the residency. If the resident's university program does not provide insurance coverage while on residency, information about how to obtain this insurance is available from the Training Director. The Ontario Psychological Association and the Canadian Psychological Association provide information on insurance at reduced group rates to their members. Information on membership is available from the Training Director.

6.6 Cross-Site Travel

- The Consortium is a multi-site training program, and as such, residents will be required to travel between sites for some activities. While every effort will be made to schedule residents at only one site per day, there may be times when travel between sites within a day will be necessary.
- Specific details for each setting:
 - There is a cost for parking at the University of Waterloo, which is not reimbursed by the Consortium, however, the University campus is readily accessible via public transit.
 - Lutherwood's main site is at the edge of town but is accessible by public transportation.
 Client care sometimes requires travel to other Lutherwood sites or other agencies, all of which are accessible via public transportation, but with a considerable time expenditure.
 There is no cost for parking at Lutherwood.
 - Work at the Waterloo Regional District School Board requires travel between many sites.
 There is no cost for parking at the Board office or at any of its schools.
 - CMHA WW main office is located in the neighbouring city of Guelph, Ontario. Public transportation is available between cities, however is time consuming and would pose obstacles for travel within a day. There is no cost for parking at the CMHA WW office.
 - Grand River Hospital has two separate campuses within Kitchener. There is a fee for parking at both sites, and availability of parking is at times limited. Grand River Hospital sites are also accessible by public transit.
- Given the above, access to use of a vehicle is necessary for most residents of the WRPC. Child Track residents will require access to use of a vehicle in order to complete a rotation at WRDSB.
- While the Consortium will not pay for parking or routine transit costs, there is reimbursement for travel between Consortium sites within a day for meetings and the like, and for client-related travel to schools or other locations.

6.7 Interruption of Residency Due to Pandemic or State of Emergency

- In the instance of a public health or other unpreventable emergency state of affairs such as the COVID-19 pandemic that began in 2020, WRPC remains committed to providing fulsome, high quality training of future psychologists, and every effort will continue to be made to prioritize the achievement of training goals in core competency areas for each of our residents.
- As a consortium with a broad range of settings, partner organizations in WRPC are impacted and able to respond somewhat varying ways.
- In the event of an ongoing pandemic or other such event, disruptions and restrictions in rotations
 and training activities may occur. Some anticipated opportunities may be unavailable or available
 only with modifications. Residents may be involved with in-person service delivery, virtual care,
 or a combination of the two. They may work on-site at rotation locations, remotely from home,
 or some combination of the two. In-person service delivery and rotation attendance may require
 residents to wear Personal Protective Equipment such as masks and adhere to enhanced
 protective practices such as regular screening, distancing, and enhanced sanitization practices at

- work sites. In the event of ongoing public health restrictions and concerns, residents are required to adhere to the health and safety protocols of the host organization and the partner organizations where their rotations are located.
- Where required, additional training and support will be provided in adapted service modalities such as virtual ("telepsychology") service provision, to support ongoing development of competence in service provision. Activities such as supervision and didactic seminars will be offered virtually rather than in-person when this is deemed most appropriate in the circumstances.
- The Training Director will seek out and maintain consultation and communication with relevant partners in the training community to assess impact and engage in planning to protect and support training to the greatest extent possible, including, where relevant, the university programs of the residents, other residency programs, CCPPP, CPA, APPIC, and College of Psychologists of Ontario.
- In an instance where there is unanticipated impact of a pandemic or other similar circumstance on training once the residency year has begun, supervisors will create an addendum to each resident's Rotation Training Plan to identify relevant barriers and solutions, with the support of the Training Director (see Appendix J for sample).

7. Resident Requirements

7.1 Time Requirements

In accordance with CPA-accreditation requirements, residents must complete a minimum of 1600
residency hours. Residents are expected to spend no more than two-thirds of their time in direct
service provision. Service delivery levels will be established for each rotation as part of the
Rotation Training Plan, ensuring that there is a sufficient level of service delivery for residents to
develop and demonstrate competency in core training domains.

7.2 Mandatory Attendance

- Resident (peer consultation) meetings
- Clinical/Professional seminar series
- Resident case and/or research presentations
- Training Committee meetings, for the resident representative to the committee (which is on a rotating basis)

7.3 Resident Meetings

 Because of the geographic layout and multi-site nature of the Consortium, residents may have little informal contact with one another. Relationships and the chance to consult, socialize, and share experiences among residents, however, are seen as an important and integral part of the residency experience. In order to facilitate the development of these relationships, regular weekly meetings are scheduled for the residents to meet and informally discuss common issues and experiences.

7.4 Required Presentations

Residents are required to give a minimum of one presentation during the year as part of the
didactic seminar series. Occurring near the end of the training year, this is a presentation of the
research or evaluation project that they have been involved in during the residency year. If
desired, residents also have the opportunity to give a seminar presentation related to their

dissertation research. There is also an option to engage in case presentations on some years. The dates for these presentations are scheduled early in the residency year. It is expected that the audience for these presentations will be comprised of fellow residents, representatives from Consortium faculty, as well as possibly broader professional members.

7.5 Alternate Arrangements for Completion of Residency Due to Leave

- Should a resident not be able to complete a portion of his or her residency due to illness, pregnancy and/or childbirth/parental leave, or other acceptable reasons, an appropriate schedule to complete the residency minimal requirements may be negotiated between the resident, the rotation supervisor(s), the Training Director, and Lutherwood's HR Department.
- The potential for such an arrangement will depend on the length of the leave of absence, and availability of supervisors and space.
- The resident should be aware that financial support cannot be guaranteed beyond the regular contract period.
- It is expected that all cases will be unique in their specific circumstances and, as such, will be addressed on a case-by-case basis.
- Residency certificates are issued only to residents who have met residency minimum requirements.

8. Supervision

8.1 Ethical and Quality Standards for Supervision

- Supervisors should ensure that the programs conducted and experiences provided are in keeping with current guidelines and standards of the profession.
- Supervisors should provide education and/or supervise clinical work only in areas where they are fully competent and experienced.
- Supervisors should provide experiences that integrate theoretical knowledge and practical
 application. Supervisors also should provide opportunities in which supervisees are able to apply
 the knowledge they have learned and understand the rationale for the skills they have acquired.
 The knowledge and skills conveyed should reflect current practice, research findings, and
 available resources.
- Professional competencies and required experiences expected of supervisees will be established and communicated in writing via the Rotation Training Plan at the beginning of each rotation.
- The nature of the supervision arrangements, the detailed duties of both supervisor and supervisee, and any other relevant factors defining the supervision relationship will be established between the resident and each supervisor through a written Supervision Agreement (attached in Appendix F). This agreement encompasses standard requirements for supervision as well as being tailored to the specific supervision requirements of the resident and rotation.
- Supervisors should inform supervisees of the goals, policies, and theoretical orientations toward assessment, psychotherapy, and training, and the supervision model (or approach) on which the supervision is based.
- Supervisees should be encouraged and assisted to define their own theoretical orientation toward assessment and psychotherapy, to establish supervision goals for themselves, and to monitor and evaluate their progress toward meeting these goals.
- Supervisors should assess supervisees' skills and experience in accordance with established standards for competent professional behaviour. Supervisors should restrict supervisees' activities to those that are commensurate with their current level of skills and experiences.
- Supervisors should have a limited number of supervisees to ensure that each supervisee has ample opportunity for individual supervision and feedback.

- Supervisors should use the following prioritized sequence in resolving conflicts among the needs of the client, the needs of the supervisee, and the needs of the program or agency. It should be understood that client welfare is usually subsumed in federal and provincial laws which should be the first point of reference. Where laws, professional and ethical standards are not present or are unclear, the good judgment of the supervisor should be guided by the following list:
 - Relevant legal, professional, and ethical standards (e.g., duty to warn, provincial child protection legislation)
 - o Client welfare
 - Supervisee welfare
 - Supervisor welfare
 - o Program and administrative needs.
- When a conflict arises among the needs of the client, the needs of the supervisee, and the needs of the program, all parties are directed to the relevant organizational policies.

8.2 Supervision Frequency

- Each resident will work with the Training Director to ensure smooth transitions into and from each rotation, to facilitate communication among supervisors, and to attend to the practical and logistical needs of the resident's placement.
- There is a possibility of having more than one supervisor within each rotation.
- <u>Frequency</u> According to CPA Accreditation Standards, 5th Revision (2011), residents will receive at least four hours of scheduled supervision per week, at least three of which are individual supervision (directed towards the supervision of the psychological service provided by the resident directly to a client). The fourth hour may be individual supervision or can be directed towards any other training or service-related activity (group supervision).
- On average, approximately 2.5 hours of supervision per week should occur in the major rotation and 1.5 hours per week in the minor rotation.
- Residents should complete logs of supervision activities. These logs are to be signed by supervisors and turned in to the Training Director (or program assistant, if indicated) on a monthly basis.
- Supervision logs should contain minimal information about topics and clients discussed, and amount of time spent.

8.3 Definitions of Supervision

- As per CPA (2011) Accreditation Standards, all four hours of supervision are to be from supervisors who are doctoral-level and experienced psychologists, registered within their jurisdiction of practice, and deemed competent to provide the kind of psychological service for which they are providing supervision.
- CPA Accreditation Standards further define individual supervision as visual and/or verbal communication in person between a supervisor and supervisee, and may include case discussion, direct observation, co-therapy for individuals or groups, or review of audio or video tapes.
- The fourth hour of supervision may be provided in an individual or group format, and may
 include discussion of specific psychological disorders, assessment or therapy techniques, or
 professional and ethical issues.
- CPA Accreditation Standards define group supervision as activities or meetings in which:
 - o residents partake in supervision of other residents'/trainees' psychological service delivery, or
 - some combination of residents and supervisors meet to review or discuss some method or technique of psychological service delivery, particular problems or disorders, or professional or ethical issues affecting practice.

8.4 Supervision Standards

- The College of Psychologists of Ontario (CPO) provides the following definition of supervision: Supervision of psychologists is a distinct professional activity provided by a member of the College registered for autonomous practice. Its goal is to ensure that psychological services meet the standards of practice of the profession in Ontario. For supervision of individuals training to become members of the profession of psychology, the relationship develops the supervisee's knowledge and skills through instruction, modelling, problem solving and on-going evaluation. Implicit in this definition are the following objectives:
 - To ensure that the recipients of psychological services receive care that meets or exceeds standards of the profession, with the emphasis on the well-being of the client: Supervisors and residents must develop a clear and accurate conceptualization of the client's needs and of factors giving rise to their difficulties.
 - To contribute to the training and professional development of residents, with an emphasis on instilling an attitude of life-long learning: The supervisor as teacher, mentor, and professional role model supports the acquisition of technical skills, ethical decision making, self-awareness and interpersonal effectiveness, with the goal of aiding the development of an understanding of the impact of their role as psychologist on their clients.
 - To provide ongoing evaluation to identify the extent to which clients have been well served and residents' learning has been enhanced: Feedback is delivered on an ongoing basis.
- Inherent in its educative and evaluative nature is the notion that the supervisory relationship is hierarchical, placing responsibility on supervisors to be cognizant of the power differential that exists between them and their residents. Supervisors must be aware of the individual needs of their residents and sensitive to their emerging development as individual practitioners.
- The Training Director, in conjunction with site supervisors, will ensure smooth transitions both into and from each rotation, facilitate communication among supervisors, and attend to the practical and logistical needs of residents' placements.

8.5 Rotation Training Plan and Evaluation

- The resident's individual goals and objectives are set through mutual consultation at the start of each rotation and are incorporated into a written Rotation Training Plan (see Appendix A). Residents are asked to provide input on their goals and self reflection on areas of clinical competencies to assist with the choice of clinical activities and development plan.
 - Evaluation of the residents' work and skills will take place on an ongoing basis within supervisory sessions and the supervisors will complete ratings on each of those clinical competencies at the end of each rotation (see Appendix B).
 - To enhance this process, supervisors will meet regularly to discuss each resident's progress and training needs. Currently, these meetings occur monthly in conjunction with the scheduling of training committee meetings. Frequency and scheduling can shift in response to resident and program needs.
 - Finally, formal evaluation forms are to be completed by the residents' primary supervisors at the end of each rotation. For minor rotations, supervisors also provide preliminary written evaluation comments at the mid point of the year.
 - Feedback is communicated to the residents' university by the Training Director twice per year (mid-year and end of year).
- Feedback and evaluation are intended to be a two-way process, and the WRPC highly values input from our residents. Residents are asked to formally evaluate their rotations and supervisors at the end of each rotation, and the entire residency program and seminar series at the end of the year (see Appendices C and D). To ensure that this feedback is as open as possible, supervisors are not to be provided with evaluations by residents until all supervisor evaluations of the resident have been submitted and the program has been completed.

8.6 Minimum Standards for Successful Completion of the Residency

As indicated by CPA accreditation requirements, residents must complete a minimum of 1600 residency hours. The Rotation Training Plans and Resident Evaluation Forms provide the standards that will be used to evaluate Residents' successful completion of the residency from a competency standpoint. It is expected that Residents obtain satisfactory ratings on their final Resident Evaluation Form (ratings of at least of 4/7 on all competencies assessed), and that the goals and expectations of each rotation's Training Plan are met (circumstances where there were unavoidable obstacles to clinical activities or goal completion will be considered on a case by case basis). In addition, the following minimum standards of professional conduct are required in order to successfully complete the residency:

- Regular and punctual attendance at all residency activities
- Respectful, cooperative interactions with clients, staff, and community members
- Able to receive feedback and act on it in order to improve residency performance
- Able to use Consortium processes (i.e., Resident Evaluation Form, supervision) to self-identify strengths and challenges
- Timely completion of all residency activities (e.g., completion of assessments, regular meetings with intervention clients, timely completion of scoring and report writing, client follow-up)
- Timely completion of all Consortium requirements (e.g., Training Plans, Resident Evaluation Form, supervision logs, seminar, rotation, supervisor, and residency evaluations)

If the minimum standards of professional conduct are not being met, remedial and appeals procedures will be followed (See section 12 of this Manual).

8.7 Guidelines for Resident Training by Non-Psychologist Staff

- Under certain circumstances, and on a case-by-case basis, the Training Director may approve
 supplementation of the resident's regular training with that from a non-Psychologist staff
 member. Non-Psychologist staff members may include Psychological Associates or members of
 other professions who are in a position to provide important training experiences not otherwise
 available. Such training experiences supplement regular supervision and do not imply delegation
 of the supervising Psychologist's responsibility for patient care to a non-registered staff member.
 The preceding does not refer to observation of other professionals in an interprofessional team
 setting, but rather to specific direct training of a resident in some professional activity.
- Consultations provided by a non-Psychologist staff member do not abridge or supplant supervision that would be otherwise provided by the supervisor.
- <u>Process</u> In order to ensure required standards of care and appropriate supervision to the resident, the following process should occur:
 - The site supervisor will review and approve the nature and amount of supervision to be provided by the non-Psychologist member
 - Supervision meetings between the resident and the site supervisor will include discussion of the training provided by the non-Psychologist supervisor
 - The site supervisor will discuss regularly with the non-Psychologist staff member the resident's progress.

8.8 Resident Supervision of Practicum Students in Clinical Psychology

Graduate students in clinical psychology programs are not always exposed to the topic of supervision, either from a theoretical or practical perspective. As the full-year pre-doctoral clinical residency is usually completed just prior to the resident entering full employment or a postdoctoral residency, it is beneficial to obtain experience in the important competency area of supervision during their residency year.

• Opportunities for residents to supervise more junior clinical psychology students are made available during the residency year when possible but cannot be guaranteed in all settings.

- While experience in supervision is deemed to be of value, consideration must also be given to the supervisees such that they are receiving the best possible supervision experience.
- The following policies have been developed to help ensure that practicum students will receive high quality supervision if supervised by residents during their practicum placements at any Consortium site.

8.8.1 Supervision by the Psychologist and Resident

- All residents' supervision of practicum students will be supervised by psychologists.
 - The degree to which a resident engages in supervision of practicum students will be commensurate with their training and experience. That is, the resident's previous training and experience will influence when the resident begins to provide supervision, cases supervised, and the amount of supervision the resident provides.
 - o In all cases, the psychologist will be actively involved in independent supervision of the practicum student and in supervision of the resident's supervision.

8.8.2 Responsibility of the Psychologist

- The resident is closely supervised by the psychologist. The involvement and responsibility of the psychologist is considered significant.
- The responsible supervising psychologist will countersign all documentation for clients seen by the practicum students that are supervised by the resident.

8.8.3 Evaluations

• In consultation with the resident, the psychologist oversees the practicum student's final evaluation.

8.8.4 Adherence to Supervision Guidelines

• In supervising residents and, in turn, practicum students, psychologists will follow the suggested *Guidelines for Members of the College Supervising Non-Registered Personnel* published by the College of Psychologists of Ontario.

8.8.5 Process

- At least three formal two-hour didactics sessions on supervision will be presented to residents through the seminar series. Topics to be covered will include models of supervision, styles of supervision, ethical issues, and other general issues regarding supervision.
- Prior to involvement with a client, a meeting will occur between the three parties involved: the
 practicum student, the resident, and the supervising psychologist. The purpose of the meeting is
 to review the principles and policies outlined in this document and to answer any questions that
 the student may have. This meeting may also be used to review the form on goals and objectives
 for the practicum and to create documentation for clients explaining the various roles of the
 practicum students' supervisors (i.e., resident and doctoral-level supervising psychologist).
- All contacts between the resident and the practicum student will be comprehensively reviewed by the resident and the psychologist.
- The report written by the practicum student will be countersigned by the supervising psychologist. The report-writing process will be supervised by the resident in close consultation with the supervising psychologist.

9. Evaluation

9.1 Letters to Residents' University Programmes

• The Training Director writes summary evaluation letters for the resident's university program (sent to the Director of Clinical Training) after the first six months and at the end of the residency. The evaluation letter is based on the Training Director's discussions with supervisors and residents, supervisors' formal evaluations, and the residents' monthly client and hours tracking sheets and supervision logs.

- <u>Interim Letter</u> The interim (mid-year) summary letters are based on reports received up to the end of February. The Training Director is responsible for ensuring that supervisors complete their evaluations.
 - Letters sent to university programme directors include a description of the resident's activities in each rotation, the amount of supervision provided, and a brief description of the clinical (assessment, therapy and consultation, description of client population) experiences that the student has had. Additional responsibilities such as committee work and research activities are also to be noted.
 - Letters also include information about the resident's working relationships, ethical behaviour, use of supervision, strengths and weaknesses, and the like. Any difficulties are to be described clearly and the remedial action indicated.
 - Areas of future development are also to be outlined and, finally, an indication of the resident's progress, satisfactory or unsatisfactory, is given.
- <u>Pass/Fail Letters</u> A letter is sent to the resident's university programme immediately after the end of the residency. The letter is limited to a clear statement about whether the resident has passed or failed the residency and an indication that a more thorough final letter is forthcoming.
- <u>Final Letters</u> A final letter is sent after the completion of all evaluations. This letter is based primarily on information acquired since the previous (mid-year) evaluation.
 - This letter includes much of the same information outlined above.
 - o If a need to take remedial action was noted in the interim letter, the outcome is indicated.
 - Additionally, there is a clear statement about whether the resident has passed or failed the residency.
- Pass/Fail and Final letters are sent out only after all residency requirements, including case closures, client reports, and resident evaluations of the residency programme are complete and handed in.

9.2 Resident Evaluation of Faculty, Rotation, and Residency

There are a number of different mechanisms by which the residents evaluate the residency programme.

- Feedback and evaluation are carried on informally in interactions between supervisors and residents throughout the rotation. Residents are to provide continual feedback to supervisors to ensure that the Rotation is meeting their needs and expectations.
- Residents are invited to share feedback with the Training Director in individual meetings that take place a minimum of three times per year, or at any other point they wish.
- Participation by resident representatives on the Training Committee provides resident perspectives on programme developments and operation.
- Formal evaluations of rotations, supervisors, seminar series, and the residency as a whole must be completed and handed in to the Consortium administrative support person for review by the Training Director *only after residents have received their formal evaluations, certificates have been awarded, and final letters sent to their home universities*. This process minimizes the perception that the evaluations of the resident could be affected by the residents' feedback about the residency. In particular, evaluations of supervisors are "sealed" by a password that the resident provides to the administrative support coordinator after completion of the program.
 - Formal evaluations of supervisors and rotations are completed at the end of each Rotation by each resident. Supervisors are rated on the quantity and quality of supervision provided, and aspects of the supervisory relationship. Copies of the evaluations are sent to each supervisor (at the end of the training year per above) and the Training Director retains a copy.
 - The Residency Evaluation Form assesses the strengths and weaknesses of the WRPC as a whole. The residents complete this form at the end of the programme. In addition to providing feedback about the quality of the clinical training, it allows for feedback in areas including but not limited to the following: a) performance of the Training Director and site

- coordinators b) evaluation methods c) accuracy of the residency brochure d) overall work load e) relations with staff f) administrative support g) access to facilities, equipment and computers and h) committee work.
- The Training Director reviews all supervisor evaluations completed by the residents and discusses any significant concerns or patterns of feedback with each supervisor. A supervisor about whom concerns are raised has the option of writing a formal response. If the matter is not resolved, the Training Director will discuss the issue with the Training Committee. If the Training Director has a conflict of interest (e.g., dual roles), the Training Committee will request that another agency psychology staff member or impartial, non-participating psychologist review the material and offer an opinion to the Training Director.
- An annual review of the seminar series is completed by the residents. As well, residents are
 polled as to what seminar topics or speakers they would like to have had and which topics they
 believe could be eliminated in future years. The seminar organizers use this information to
 develop the seminar series for the upcoming residency year.
- Review of the Consortium Guide is completed annually by the residents to ensure that it is clear and accurate in its description of the Programme.
- Annual review of the residency Policy and Procedure Manual by the residents ensures that the manual is clear, accurate, and up-to-date in its description of the Programme and its Policies.

10. Faculty-Resident Relationships

10.1 Junior Colleague Model

- The Waterloo Region Psychology Consortium abides by all CPA guidelines regarding Faculty-Student Relationships. Our programme operates on a "junior colleague" model, whereby residents receive the same benefits allotted to permanent staff members and serve as active members on Psychology committees including the Training Committee and (if interested) specific Task Forces organized as needed.
- In addition, residents are to be treated with the same respect as permanent psychology staff. They have equality with other staff with respect to workload (taking into account their role as trainees), accessing the organization's resources, attending professional development events, and participating in social events. Overall, they are treated in a manner similar to psychology staff that hold entry-level positions.

11. Multi-Organizational Confidentiality

- While serving in one rotation, residents may become aware of information regarding clients who
 may have been referred concurrently to a service in another organization in which the resident is
 serving. Inasmuch as these organizations are discrete settings, and although information of
 which the resident may be aware may be of value in the diagnosis or treatment of such patients,
 professional standards and provincial legislation require the resident to obtain consent for release
 of personal health information prior to the sharing of information gained at one setting with staff
 at the other setting.
- Notwithstanding the above, for purposes of supervision, residents are free to discuss in
 confidence with their rotation supervisors, any information or issues of which they become
 aware, regardless of the setting. In dealing with information received while serving at an agency
 other than the one to which the supervisory relationship pertains, the supervisor is obliged to
 retain in confidence information revealed in supervisory sessions as per professional standards
 and statutory obligations.

12. Remediation Policy for Residents/ Conflict Resolution Policies

12.1 General Statement

- It is essential that mechanisms be in place for resolution of residents' concerns about their placements and supervisors, and for supervisors' concerns about their residents.
- The following guidelines are intended to provide residents with a means to resolve perceived
 conflicts that cannot be resolved by informal means, to allow any resident to pursue grievances
 without fear of retribution, and to enable supervisors to take fair and just actions about
 concerning resident behavior and performance.
 - If issues are not immediately resolved between resident and supervisor, the Training Director (TD) should be informed, initially on an informal basis. Lutherwood's HR Department should also be informed on an informal basis so that if required they may become involved in an advisory or supportive capacity. HR may become more actively involved if all mechanisms internal to the Consortium have been exhausted without satisfactory resolution.
 - Both residents and supervisors have the option of consulting with the College of Psychologists of Ontario.

12.2 Multiple Roles

- Because the WRPC is a relatively small consortium with relatively few psychologists fully involved, the Training Director (TD) has more than one role, resulting in potential conflicts of interest. Although outlined in more detail in Sections 12.3 12.4, the general approach is outlined here.
- As currently structured, the TD is both a Site Coordinator and a clinical supervisor at Lutherwood.
- Residents placed at Lutherwood each have a primary supervisor who is not the TD. The TD
 acts only as a secondary supervisor, for typically one case at a time. Hence any concerns
 that are unable to be resolved with the TD in that role, or in her role as Site Coordinator or
 clinical supervisor, can be raised with their primary supervisors who will take the issue
 forward.
- If a concern about the TD must be resolved at the level of the Training Committee, the TD will recuse themselves from those meetings.
- As currently structured, the Site Coordinators at other Consortium sites also act as clinical supervisors. Whenever possible, at each site, at least one additional psychologist also acts as a clinical supervisor.
- Residents who have concerns that they are unable to resolve with their clinical supervisors can take their concerns to their respective Site Coordinators.
- Any concerns that are unable to be resolved with Site Coordinators, or if the Site Coordinator and clinical supervisor are one and the same, can be raised with the Training Director.

12.3 Resident Grievance Procedure – Supervisor Issues

 Possible issues for residents include but are not limited to matters such as: poor technical supervision, inadequate time provision, relative unavailability of the supervisor, onerous workload, evaluations perceived as unfair, or conflicts over scientific ownership of ideas or data.

12.3.1 Conflicts with a Supervisor

- The following steps are followed if conflicts arise with a supervisor. A slightly different protocol (see section 12.3.2) is recommended if the supervisor is the Training Director. At each step, the resident should receive a response to his/her concern within five working days.
 - o In the event of difficulties with a supervisor or other grievances about training, the resident should consult the following persons, in order, and attempt to resolve the conflict: 1) his or her supervisor (if comfortable doing so); 2) another supervisor at the same site; 3) the site coordinator 4) the Training Director. Later steps as outlined below should be taken only following failure of resolution of the problem by earlier steps. The resident should document his or her experience throughout the entire process.
 - o If the Training Director or other Training Committee member (as relevant) cannot resolve the matter, they will choose, from among the Consortium sites, a staff psychologist who is acceptable to both the supervisor and the resident, and who will attempt to mediate the difference. The mediator will request written materials from the resident and the supervisor prior to meeting with them.
 - If mediation fails, the Training Committee (without the presence of the administrative assistant or the resident representative, unless requested by the resident in question) will review the issue based on materials supplied by the resident, the supervisor, and the mediator. The resident, supervisor, Training Director, and site coordinator must be present.
 - The Training Committee has final discretion regarding outcome. If the conflict is not resolved by a general consensus, an anonymous vote will be taken.
 - The resident may appeal the Training Committee's decisions to Lutherwood's Director of Human Resources if all appeal mechanisms within the Consortium have been exhausted.

12.3.2 Supervisor Conflicts When the Supervisor is the Training Director

- If conflicts arise when the resident is being supervised by the Training Director, the following steps should be followed. At each step, the resident should receive a response to his/her concern within five working days:
 - If the resident is comfortable conveying their concerns directly to the supervisor/ Training Director, they do so.
 - If the resident is not comfortable raising the concern with the supervisor/Training Director they may approach another member of the Training Committee, for support and to help address the concern.
 - If the Training Director / Training Committee member cannot resolve the matter, they
 appoint, from among the Consortium sites, a staff psychologist acceptable to both parties, to
 review the information and mediate.
 - o If mediation fails, the Training Committee (without the presence of the administrative assistant or resident representative, unless requested by the resident in question) reviews the issue based on materials supplied by the resident, the supervisor, and the mediator. The resident and supervisor/Training Director must be present.
 - The Training Director will enlist the help of another registered psychologist from within the Consortium to represent the site during the discussions.
 - The Training Committee has final discretion regarding outcome. If the conflict is not resolved by a general consensus, an anonymous vote will be taken.
 - The resident may appeal the Training Committee's decision to Lutherwood's Human Resource Director if all appeal mechanisms within the Consortium have been exhausted.

12.4 Resident Grievance Procedure – Administrative Issues

 Concerns regarding administrative issues might include letters to a resident's university programme, track requirements, rotation assignments, and supervisor assignments.

12.4.1 Site Coordinator

- It is possible that a grievance with the site coordinator may arise specific to their administrative role in the Residency (not related to supervision issues). At each step, the resident should receive a response to their concern within five working days. If such a conflict arises, the resident should:
 - Discuss the issue with the site coordinator, if comfortable doing so. If the issue is not satisfactorily resolved, the issue and related documentation are provided to the Training Director who acts as a mediator.
 - In the event of failure to resolve the matter, the Training Committee reviews the issue as described above.
 - The resident may appeal the Training Committee's decisions to Lutherwood's Human Resource Director if all appeal mechanisms within the psychology service have been exhausted.

12.4.2 Training Director

- It is possible that a grievance with the Training Director may arise specific to their administrative role in the Residency. At each step, the resident should receive a response to their concern within five working days. If a conflict arises, the resident should:
 - o Convey their concerns directly to the Training Director, if comfortable doing so.
 - If the resident is not comfortable raising the concern with the supervisor/Training Director they may approach another member of the Training Committee, for support and to help address the concern.
 - If the Training Director or other Training Committee member (as relevant) cannot resolve the matter, they appoint a staff psychologist, acceptable to both parties, to review the information and mediate.
 - o If mediation fails, the Training Committee (without the presence of the administrative assistant or resident representative, unless requested by the resident in question) reviews the issue based on materials supplied by the resident, the supervisor (Training Director), and the mediator.
 - The Training Committee has final discretion regarding outcome. If the conflict is not resolved by a general consensus, an anonymous vote will be taken.
 - The resident may appeal the Training Committee's decisions to Lutherwood's Human Resource Manager if all appeal mechanisms within the psychology service have been exhausted.

12.5 Supervisor Concerns - Probation Procedure

12.5.1 Probation or Dismissal

- Unsatisfactory performance, unprofessional behavior or unethical behavior on the part of a resident may result in placement on probation or may result in dismissal from the program
 - Unsatisfactory performance may include but not be limited to, inability, despite supervision, to relate to clients, conceptualize their concerns, or work with them effectively and competently, and unwillingness to make use of supervisory input
 - Unprofessional behavior may include but not be limited to, excessive lateness or unexplained absences, disrespectful behavior towards clients, colleagues or others, persistent failure to complete assigned tasks despite the provision of appropriate supports to allow completion
 - Unethical behavior may include but not be limited to, violation of clients' rights to confidentiality, failure to break confidentiality when faced with circumstances that warrant a duty to report, engaging in a dual relationship with a client
- It is recognized that the current set of policies and procedures may not hold sway in our partner organizations. If a matter cannot be resolved internally within the residency consortium, it will be necessary to follow policies and procedures in place in each of our residency sites.
- The following steps govern the placement of residents on probation or program dismissal

12.5.2 Site Supervisor

- If in the opinion of a supervisor the resident is not performing at a satisfactory level of competence or engages in unethical behavior the clinical supervisor will:
 - o discuss their concerns with the resident
 - o discuss their concerns with others supervising the same resident
 - o increase their supervisory guidance
 - direct the resident to other appropriate resources such as additional didactics, additional readings, and in some cases, individual therapy
 - Alert the Training Director and members of the Training Committee that there is a potential concern and that efforts are currently being made to resolve the matter internally to the specific rotation.
 - The Training Director and members of the Training Committee may participate in consultation and problem-solving discussions about the matter.
- At this step, the clinical supervisor will, in writing, note what concerns led to the discussion and the remedial steps, if any, that were proposed, and place them in his or her own resident's supervision file. A copy is to be shared with the resident. Part of the remediation plan will include a specific time line outlining when specific goals should be met.
- If the concerns are of a serious nature or if they fall outside the boundaries of the residency (e.g., criminal behaviour), the clinical supervisor will communicate their concerns in writing to the Training Director within one working day. The Training Director will determine if the problem is of sufficient severity to forward directly to Lutherwood's HR Department and/or Lutherwood's Director of Operations for Mental Health Services. Situations may arise in which a resident's behaviour is of sufficient severity that the probation procedure outlined here will be pre-empted by organizational policies regarding unacceptable and/or criminal behaviour.

12.5.3. Training Director

- If the competency or training issues persist for more than one month, the supervisor will communicate his or her concerns in writing to the Training Director. The communication will include copies of any documentation developed as described above. The Training Director will consult with the resident and supervisor to assist in the remediation process.
- It is imperative that the remediation process developed with the assistance of the Training Director establishes a specific timeline for the attainment of goals. The Training Director will keep detailed records of meetings and remediation plans.
- At this point, and with the knowledge of the resident, the Director of Clinical Training of the
 resident's university programme will be notified that there is a concern and that we are
 attempting to resolve it internally.

12.5.4. Training Director/Ad Hoc Review Committee

- If concerns persist for more than two weeks after the involvement of the Training Director, the information is forwarded to a Review Committee consisting of themselves, an alternate registered psychologist from the rotation, and a third staff psychologist who has not supervised the resident, chosen by the Training Director and acceptable to both the resident and supervisor.
- The Review Committee must be assembled within one week, and all parties involved in the conflict must attend.
- The Committee's mandate is to review all pertinent data, to interview the resident and all supervisors involved, and to make one of the following recommendations to the Training Committee: (a) no action required; (b) corrective action short of probation; (c) probation for three months; (d) immediate dismissal from the program. All corrective actions proposed, whether involving formal probation or not, are documented on all contacts.
- If corrective action or probation is recommended, the Review Committee will specify a timeline for reviewing progress and schedule a follow-up meeting. Recommendations to the Training

- Director are prepared. If the conflict is not resolved by a consensus, an anonymous vote will be taken in which the Training Director, site coordinator, and third staff psychologist vote.
- The Training Director summarizes the Review Committee's decision in a written document and forwards the document to all relevant parties. The resident is provided the opportunity to have a staff psychologist representative of his or her choice present at the Training Committee meeting when the case is presented.
- Prior to the end of the formal probation period, the Review Committee will review the resident's progress by examining reports and conducting interviews with the resident and relevant supervisors.
- The Review Committee will make one of the following recommendations to the Training Committee: (a) removal from probation; (b) continuation of probation for an additional stipulated period; (c) dismissal from the program.
- If the probation period is continued, the Ad Hoc Review Committee will specify a timeline for review of the resident's progress.
- Prior to the end of the second probation period, the Review Committee repeats previous steps, however, one of only two recommendations is available: (a) removal from probation; or (b) dismissal from the program.

12.5.5 The Training Committee

- The Training Committee (without the administrative assistant or resident representatives) will review all relevant documentation, the recommendations presented by the Ad Hoc Review Committee and additional information, if needed, within one week of the Ad Hoc Review Committee's decision.
- The Training Committee will accept or reject the recommendations of the review committee either by a consensus or, if needed, by majority vote. The Training Director and supervisor (if a member of the Training Committee) will abstain from voting given their prior involvement in the process.
- If the decision is to place the resident on probation or to dismiss the resident, the Training Director will communicate the decision immediately to the resident and the Director of Clinical Training of the resident's home university. Minutes of the meeting are kept.
- Prior to the end of the second probation period, the Review Committee repeats previous steps, however, one of only two recommendations is available: (a) removal from probation; or (b) dismissal from the program.

12.6 Appeals Procedures

- An appeal for any decision made by the Training Committee may be made to an Ad Hoc Appeals Committee through the Training Director within one week of the Training Committee's decision.
- The Training Director, or their alternate, will appoint an independent Appeals Committee composed
 of members of the residency supervisors that can uphold, modify, or reject the decision of the
 Training Committee.
- In the event of a conflict of interest on the part of the Training Director, the Training Committee will appoint an alternate from among the staff psychologists.
- The Appeals Committee will be composed of the Training Director or alternate, a staff psychologist within the resident's track (whenever possible), and a staff psychologist outside of the track.
- The decision of the Appeals Committee may be appealed to Lutherwood's Human Resource Director if all appeal mechanisms within the consortium have been exhausted.

12.7 Complaints about Residents' Behaviour by Clients, Other Staff, or Police

 Any concerns about a resident's behaviour that have been raised by people other than the resident's supervisors will be directed to the site coordinator who will investigate the matter and take appropriate action as warranted. The site coordinator will inform the Training Director of the concern.

12.8 Highly Unethical Behaviour and Behaviour of a Serious Nature

- Residents may be asked to leave the residency programme subsequent to either:
 - Ethical violations that endanger patients or create a substantial liability risk for a member organization.
 - Clinical practice that endangers patients and which has not changed despite repeated feedback from supervisors and adequate opportunities to practice more clinically safe skills.
 - o Ethical violations that endanger patients include, but are not limited to:
 - sexual harassment, sexual exploitation, or sexual assault of patients or staff
 - significant dual relationships with patients
 - breaches of privacy.
 - Ethical violations that create a substantial liability risk for the organizations include all of those mentioned above as well as:
 - falsification of billing records
 - falsifications of health records
 - falsification of any other records.
 - o Clinical practice that clearly endangers patients includes, but is not limited to:
 - recommending treatments outside the sphere of competence of a psychologist
 - recommending practices to a patient that place them at undue financial or health risk without a thorough review with the patient of those risks (e.g., divorce, quitting employment).
- The supervisor is responsible for providing feedback regarding inappropriate clinical practice. Feedback will be provided by:
 - Documented verbal warnings and suggestions for corrective actions about the behaviour in question
 - Two written warnings and suggestions for corrective actions with respect to the problematic behaviour.
- When appropriate, opportunities to practice improved clinical skills will be provided by:
 - Exposure to clinical cases with whom these skills can be practiced
 - Opportunity to obtain a supervisor's feedback on the newly practiced skill (e.g., audiotape review)
 - Further opportunity to practice following a second round of corrective feedback about the behaviour in question.

12.9 Termination of Resident Employment

• Should a resident behave in a manner that causes them to be fired from the employ of Lutherwood (the host organization), the residency will be terminated, and a failing grade given. In addition, should a resident behave in a manner that would cause them to be fired from another Consortium member agency, this may entail behaviour that also requires termination of their employment with Lutherwood. The situation will be reviewed by the Training Committee as soon as possible (without the Resident Representatives, to protect confidentiality of the resident in question) to determine if that is the case, and if so then the residency would also be terminated and a failing grade given. Likewise, if a resident leaves the residency prior to completion without an acceptable explanation, or has an unacceptable reason for an extended absence, the residency will be terminated, and a failing grade given.

13. Anti-Violence, Anti-Harassment and Anti-Discrimination Policies

- The Consortium is committed to ensuring that residents experience a safe and healthy workplace environment free of violence, discrimination and harassment, where all individuals are treated with respect and dignity, and where all can contribute fully and access equal opportunities.
- The Consortium adheres to the following policies of its host organization, Lutherwood:
 - o C 12.0 Human Rights, Anti-Harassment, and Anti-Discrimination Policy
 - o E 13.0 Workplace Violence
 - o E 13.1 Workplace Harassment
- All persons are expected to uphold and abide by the above policies, by refraining from any form of violence, harassment or discrimination, and by cooperating fully in any investigation of a workplace violence, harassment or discrimination complaint.
- In the event of a concern by a resident about workplace harassment, discrimination, or human rights infringement in violation of these policies, residents are to follow a parallel process to the grievance procedure outlined in Section 12 of this document, reporting their concerns, as relevant and where they feel safe to do so, to (in ascending sequence as needed until concerns are resolved):
 - Clinical supervisor
 - Site Coordinator
 - Training Director or designate
 - Training Committee
 - Lutherwood Human Resources Director or delegate
- Each of these individuals will seek consultation from Lutherwood's HR Director and the relevant policies as required.
- Where there is a conflict of interest due to multiple roles, delegates will be identified also as delineated in Section 12.
- Any violent or potentially violent situations should be reported to a Clinical Supervisor, Site Coordinator, Training Director or designate, or the Human Resources Department immediately.

LIST OF APPENDICES

- **A.** Rotation Training Plan
- **B.** Resident Evaluation Form
- **C.** Residents' Evaluation of Supervisor and Resident Evaluation of Rotation
- **D.** Residents' Evaluation of the WRPC
- **E.** Residents' Evaluation of the Seminar Series
- **F.** Supervision Agreement
- **G.** Lutherwood Policy C 12.0 Human Rights, Anti-Harassment, and Anti-Discrimination
- **H.** Lutherwood Policy E 13.0 Workplace Violence
- **I.** Lutherwood Policy 13.1 Workplace Harassment
- J. Addendum to Learning Contract Impact of Pandemic Planning